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The ‘Great Temple of
Solomon’ at Stirling
Castle

by IAN CAMPBELL and AONGHUS MACKECHNIE

INTRODUCTION

In 1594, a new Chapel Royal was erected at Stirling Castle, for the baptism, on 30 August
of that year, of Prince Henry, first-born son and heir to James VI King of Scots and his
wife, Queen Anna, sister of Denmark’s Christian IV.! James saw the baptism as a major
opportunity to emphasize, to an international — and, above all, English — audience,
both his own and Henry’s suitability as heirs to England’s childless and elderly Queen
Elizabeth. To commemorate the baptism and associated festivities, a detailed written
account was produced, entitled A True Reportarie and attributed to William Fowler. It
provided a remarkable piece of Stuart propaganda, as testified by many subsequent
reprints, including during the 1745 Jacobite Rebellion.? James no doubt had in mind the
example of the celebrations at his own baptism in December 1566, which ‘took the form
of a triumphant Renaissance festival, the first that Scotland — and indeed Great Britain
— had ever seen’.? Despite apparently being constructed within a mere seven months,
the new chapel achieved its aim of being both impressive and symbolic of the aspirations
of the Scottish king (Fig. 1).* It can claim to be the earliest Renaissance church in Britain,
with its main entrance framed by a triumphal arch, flanked by Italianate windows.>
However, even more significant is the evidence that the chapel was deliberately
modelled on the Temple of Solomon in Jerusalem.

The discoveries that the internal dimensions of the chapel match those given for the
Temple in the Bible and that the form of the windows has Solomonic associations were
published in 2000.° The present article revisits the Solomonic connection in the light of
new evidence, in particular, a contemporary letter calling the chapel Solomon’s Temple.
This puts it beyond doubt that the chapel was a conscious attempt to build a ‘copy” of
the Temple, not only in its dimensions but also in several of its architectural features,
including the forms of the windows and principal entrance. The chapel is the most
concrete demonstration of James’s own vision of himself as ‘Great Britain’s Solomon’,
something which has hitherto attracted much more attention for the English part of his
reign, but is now clear was already as strong before 1603. It will also be argued that the
building was the prime catalyst for the foundation of modern freemasonry. In the first
section, we describe the building in some detail, believing it to have been hitherto
relatively understudied despite its importance. We believe such attention has been
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F1g 13 Chapel Royal, Stzrlmg Castle prmczpal fagade (© sttorzc Scotland, 2010)

rewarded by allowing us not only to recognize the ‘meaning’ of the principal doors and
windows, but also to propose revisions to current understanding of the original forms
of the roof and painted frieze, as well as bringing the previously ignored chambers
beneath the eastern end into the argument.

HISTORY AND DESCRIPTION OF THE CHAPEL
Stirling was an ancient royal centre, and its medieval castle was a major stronghold. The
castle continued to be considered very secure, even after its transformation under kings
lames IV (r. 1488-1513) and James V (r. 1513—42) into the most impressive Renaissance
royal palace in Scotland.” Its customary role as the place where the heirs to the Scottish
c;rown, the dukes of Rothesay, were reared ensured the maintenance of its strong
lefences. After the Act of Union with England in 1707, which stipulated that it should
se garrisoned by the new British army, Stirling was provided with massive new
‘ortifications, which impacted upon the chapel, as we shall see.®

In fact, the medieval castle seems to have had two chapels, one small and one large.
[he former appears to have been sited at the south-west corner of the upper courtyard,
he ‘Inner Close’. It was rebuilt by James IV in 1504-05 when its complement of chaplains
wvas increased to three, but it was subsequently remodelled as a kitchen.’ The larger
‘hapel, dedicated to St Michael, on the northern side of the same close, was the precursor
o the 1594 chapel. Pope Alexander VI had granted James IV’s petition to make it a
ollegiate church in 1501, but the king does not appear to have made major structural
‘hanges to the existing fabric.!” On the basis of archaeological evidence, it appears to
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have been orientated substantially off-square from the James IV-period King's Old
Building to the west and Great Hall to the east. The fourth side of the courtyard to the
south was occupied by James V’s palace, which incorporated a pre-existing complex
(Fig. 2).11

%he Scottish Reformation in 1560 led to the abandonment there of regular Catholic
services. An attempt to celebrate mass on 14 September 1561, a month after Mary Queen
of Scots returned to Scotland to begin her personal reign, was violently disrupted, and
it appears that Mary subsequently considered moving the institution of the Chapel Royal
to Holyroodhouse, something accomplished by her son in the following decade.!* The
last mention of a Catholic service in the chapel was the baptism of the future James VI
in December 1566, seven months before his mother’s forced abdication.'® By March 1568,
a reformed minister, John Duncanson, already ‘minister of the King’s House’ (or royal
chaplain) at Stirling, was appointed vicar of the chapel there, and, around the same time,
the Earl of Mar, Captain of the Castle, purged it of Catholic decoration and furnishings.'*

8 KITCHENS
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Fig. 2. Stirling Castle, plan of Upper Ward (from Richard Fawcett, Scottish Architecture from the
Accession of the Stewarts to the Reformation 13711560 (Edinburgh, 1994)
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Duncanson resigned as minister at Stirling in 1571, probably in connection with the
migration of the Chapel Royal to Holyrood, after which the Stirling chapel appears to
have fallen into disuse.'® By 1583, the then royal Master of Works, Sir Robert Drummond
of Carnock (in post 1579-83), proposed to James that the chapel was so ruinous that it
should be demolished and replaced by a new building set further back to the north and
realigned to make the close more nearly square.'®

Nothing appears to have happened, until, as the Reportarie tells us:

The Noble and most potent Prince of Scotland, was borne in the Castell of Striuiling
[Stirling] vpon Tuesday, the 19. day of Februarie 1594. vpon which occasion the Kingis
Maiestie, sent for the Nobles of his Land, and to all the capitall Burrows thereof, to haue
their aduise, how he should proceed for the due solemnization of his Royall baptisme, and
what Princes he should send to: When they were all compeired with great diligence and
goodwill, hee proponed vnto them, that it was necessary, to direct out Ambassadours to
France, England, Denmarke, the Lowe-Countries, the Duke of Brunswicke his brother in
lawe, and to the Duke of Magdelburgh, the Queenes Maiesties Grand-father, and to such
other Princes as should be thought expedient. Likewise, hee thought the Castell of
Striuiling, the most conuenient place for the residence of this most Noble and Mightie
Prince, in respect that hee was borne there. [...] And besides all this, because the Chappell
Royall was ruinous, and too little, concluded, that the old chappell should be vtterlie rased,
and a new erected in the same place, that shuld be more large, long and glorious, to
entertaine the great number of strangers exspected. These propositions at length
considered, they all with a free voluntarie deliberation, granted vnto his Maiestie, the
summe of an hundreth thousand pounds money of Scotland.”

James gave the task of organizing the celebrations to Sir Patrick Leslie, ‘Lord of Lindores’
(d. 1608), and William Fowler (1560 /61—1612).18 Sir Patrick, second son of the fourth Earl
of Rothes, was a gentleman of the king's bedchamber but had no known qualifications
for the role conferred on him for the baptism. Fowler, from an Edinburgh burgess family,
was a courtier, poet and translator of Petrarch’s Trionfi, which may go some way to
explaining why he was chosen as co-organizer.'” He had studied in Paris in 1581 and is
recorded at the University of Padua in 1592. In 1589—90, he travelled to Denmark,
accompanying James VI on the latter’'s marriage to Christian IV’s sister, Anna.
Subsequently, he became her private secretary and Master of Requests. Some have
suggested that he was the Master of Works for the chapel, but there is no evidence of his
having any practical involvement in architecture.? Thus, it is surely significant that the
Reportarie, attributed to Fowler, goes into great detail describing the ceremonies and
festivities, but gives disappointingly little information on the chapel. A more likely
candidate for its design and for overseeing its building is Sir William Schaw (c. 1550~
1602), the king’s principal Master of Works since 1583. During 1583-84, he was twice in
France and, in 1589-90, was another of the courtiers who travelled to Denmark for the
king’s marriage. Like Fowler, he became a member of Anna’s household, being made
chamberlain of her palace at Dunfermline Abbey in 1593, where he was eventually
buried, his epitaph, describing him as architecturae peritissimus (‘most expert in
architecture’). 2! The epitaph also describes him as royal Master of Ceremonies. The
Master of Ceremonies certainly took part in James’s baptism, but if Schaw was already
holder of the office in 1594 it might seem odd that the Reportarie does not mention him
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by name.?? Coupled with the lack of description of the new chapel, however, this could
be evidence of a rivalry between Fowler and Schaw.?

The new chapel was built partly over the site of its predecessor, but the opportunity
was taken to realign it along the lines of Drummond’s 1583 recommendations, although
nothing was apparently done to level the site, so that a considerable difference in height
remained between the east and west sides of the Inner Close. Probably at the same time,
a glazed gallery (based perhaps on Drummond’s earlier recommendations) was erected
along the west (Inner Close) side of the Great Hall, with access into the hall through the
insertion of a new central doorway, while balustraded walls extended along at least parts
of the west and south sides of the close as can be seen on several eighteenth-century Board
of Ordnance plans (Fig. 3).2 Traces of the foundations of the west wall appear to be shown
on the Royal Commission plan from the 1950s.2° Both the east and west walls converge
towards the south side of the courtyard, making the close an irregular trapezoid, with
the chapel on the longest side. The effect would have been to enhance the apparent scale
of the chapel, much as in Michelangelo’s remodelled Piazza del Campidoglio, of fifty
years earlier, which magnifies the visual impact of the Palazzo de’ Senatori. The chapel
itself is a simple rectangle in plan, externally measuring 34.3 m long by 11.4 m wide (Fig.
4).26 The south front is built of ashlar, capped by a Classical cornice, beneath a slate roof
(Fig. 1). A round-arched doorway, the principal entrance, occupies the centre of the
facade, and is flanked by two pairs of Corinthian columns, each pair sharing a single
pedestal, and having an entablature that is set forward over it (Fig. 5). Above the
entablature there is an aedicule with a moulded frame enclosing a raised panel dated
1594. The aedicule was probably originally crowned with a pediment, assuming that is
what is meant by the term “pirament’, which a building account of 1628/9 locates at the
“chapel door’.” Accounts from the same campaign (renovating the chapel in anticipation
of a visit by Charles I, which eventually took place in 1633) refer to the painting of the
whole entrance, including the columns, entablature and the “housing’ of the royal arms,
as being executed by Valentine Jenkin.?® To either side of the door are three biforate
windows, each light being round-headed and each pair set within round containing
arches. In the tympana of the windows can be seen traces of painted roundels, which
once contained painted crowns and royal ciphers.? That the decoration is painted rather
than carved is perhaps a consequence of the haste with which the chapel was erected.

The other three exterior faces are built of rubble masonry, with freestone dressings.
The north wall has an eaves cornice, but with simpler mouldings than that on the main
facade. Traces are also visible of a small blocked doorway opposite the main portal. The
west wall has a wider central doorway, which is entered from a pend (vaulted passage)
below a room linking the chapel to the north-east corner of the King’s Old Work, a
palace block built by James IV around 1500. The absence of any sign of a break in the
masonry where the chamber meets the north-west corner of the chapel, and the presence
of the same cornice as that of the chapel’s north wall, suggest they were built in the
same campaign. The west door has a simple chamfered edge. The east wall has a two-
light window with the same mouldings as those on the south front but significantly
taller and not set within a containing arch.** An unmoulded transom was almost
certainly added later when the chapel was divided horizontally into barracks, since it
is at the same level as the inserted floor, the line of which is still visible inside the chapel.
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Fig. 3. Theodore Dury, ‘Sterling Castle’, plan of Upper Ward in 1708 (National Library of Scotland
Map Room, Edinburgh, MS 1646 Z.02/16a)




THE 'GREAT TEMPLE OF SOLOMON’ AT STIRLING CASTLE 97

Fig. 4. Chapel Royal, plan (© Historic Scotland)

Both the east and west gables are crow-stepped (i.e. have stepped profiles) and contain
very small rectangular windows, set within frames of two unmoulded jambs, to
illuminate the loft space above the internal roof of the chapel. At the south-east corner
of the chapel is a small chamber, which appears to have been an ante-room. A slight
change in stone colour suggests it was not finished at the same time as the main part of
the chapel, but the presence of tusking (i.e. stones left projecting from masonry in
anticipation of a later continuation) at the chapel’s south-east corner indicates it was
intended as part of the original design.3! The profile of its eaves cornice, identical to
that of the north wall, and the similarity of its gable’s crow steps to those of the two
principal gables, suggest it was built very shortly after 1594. In its south wall is a
handsome round-arched doorway, with a simple chamfered surround, which would
originally have opened into the west gallery, now represented by a modern mock-
medieval timber pentice (a lean-to, open shelter). Internally, the ante-room has one door
opening into the chapel on the west side and another on the east leading into the transe
(enclosed corridor) on the northern side of the Great Hall, which is later in date but
probably replaced an earlier one.

Beneath the eastern end of the chapel are two small chambers, the northern one almost
square, the other rectangular, and both now containing services plant, which makes
examination very difficult (Fig. 6). The rubble dividing wall between them does not
appear to be keyed into the inner face of the east external wall, which might suggest it
was added later. However, each chamber can be reached from outside by similar lintelled
doorways with chamfered surrounds, consistent with a date of ¢. 1600, which implies
that two chambers were always intended.

The interior of the chapel is now very plain, with probably none of the original
decoration preserved (save beneath the overpainting of the frieze), a result of its being
put to other uses after 1707 (Fig. 7). By 1887, MacGibbon and Ross’s description of the
chapel reported that its interior was ‘cut up with modern partitions and floors so as to
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Fig. 5. Chapel Royal, detail of principal entrance (© Historic Scotland, c. 200;3)

form stores, and a new roof has recently been substituted for the old one, which was
probably of open timber-work, so that the original features of the chapel are now
unrecognisable’.*®

During the twentieth century, the chapel was gradually restored, beginning with the
stripping out of the internal divisions in the 1930s. This revealed the painted entablature
which ran around the building below the springing of the original ceiling, interrupted
by the east window and a corresponding trompe-I'@il window in the west wall, where
the decoration also extends up into both gables. Like the exterior painting, the decoration
was part of the 1628-29 Jenkin repainting, which restored the original 1594 scheme.3*
The frieze of the entablature contains cartouches bearing the Honours of Scotland and
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Fig. 6. Chapel Royal, longitudinal section (© Historic Scotland)

ciphers alternating with roundels, with fruit and flowers in between. The ciphers
comprise the initial ‘I’ (for Jacobus) and the Arabic numeral ‘6" in monogram, followed
by the initial ‘R’ (rex), indicating that there was no updating of the decorative scheme
for Charles I's visit (Fig. 8).* The roundels as restored are filled with the same grey paint
as the ground of the frieze but, given their large size and prominence, it seems
inconceivable that they did not originally contain some sort of figural representation,
most probably portrait busts. Indeed, very faint ghosts of possible outlines still appear
to be discernible in some of them.?

The twentieth-century restoration culminated in the 1990s with the construction of a
new roof with a semi-polygonal profile, which follows the line of the upper edge of the
decorative paintwork in the gables. This profile is corroborated both by the surviving
1620s paintwork scheme and by a drawing dated 1719, which shows the chapel roof in
section (Fig. 9). It depicts the five-sided ceiling profile, and, over it, roof-ties which would
have secured the boarding, set as low down as the ceiling void would allow. The 1990s
roof has been left undecorated but it is known from the 1628-29 account, tantalizingly,
that Jenkin was instructed to repaint the original roof ‘as it was before’.?” Fortunately,
however, we have a description from Robert Johnston (15677—1639), who states that the
walls were ‘magnificently adorned with pictures, sculptures and other ornaments’, while
the ceiling was ‘garnished with gold’.%

A feature omitted from the 1990s reconstruction was the tie-beams, or joists, which
the section drawing shows set horizontally on the wallheads and connected to the rafters
at their bases so as to complete triangles.® Without ties, the roof would have exerted
pressure both downwards and outwards and pushed the walls apart, so ties were
necessary for structural stability.* That such joists existed is confirmed by the 1628—29
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Fig. 7. Chapel Royal, interior looking east (© Historic Scotland, c. 2000)
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Fig. 8. Chapel Royal, detail of painted frieze (© Historic Scotland, c. 2000)

account which says that they should be painted blue and decorated with flowers and
“anticks’.4!

The principal feature of the lower zone of the chapel interior is that the western part
of the floor is today about go cm ( 3 ft) higher than the rest (Fig. 6). Some of this difference
is caused by the ground level beneath the chapel rising to the west, but the platform
extends further eastwards than otherwise warranted to make it square in area. It is

unknown whether the platform was intended to serve some purpose at the baptism, but
this is possible. Fowler states that:

In the middest of the Chappell Royall within the partition, where the King’s Maiestie, the
Ambassadors, and Prince with his conuoy were placed, there was a new pulpite erected:
The same was richely hung with cloth of gold: All the pavement within this partition was
Prince-like laide with fine tapestrie. 2

It would thus be tempting to assume that the partition corresponded with the raised
platform, but Fowler explicitly states that James sat ‘at the North-east end’, that is, the
opposite end of the chapel.*> One might wonder if this was a mistake for north-west, but
it receives apparent confirmation from a second documentary source, the ‘Ordering of
the Chapel for the baptism’ setting out the anticipated arrangements and probably dating
to early August. This not only repeats that the king’s seat was in the north-east corner of
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Fig. 9. Thomas Moore, “Sterling Castle, Novenr: 1719 No. 4’, detail of section through the Chapel
Royal (National Library of Scotland, Map Room, Edinburgh MS 1646 Z.02/18d)

the chapel, but that ‘in the east end of the kirk to the southward on his majesty’s left
hand shall be dressit a seat for the Queen of England [...] where her ambassador to the
baptism shall be placed’, thereby leaving little room for doubt.# The same account tells
us that the king’s seat was to be placed on a platform of two steps, and on the same
platform, to the west, a chair for the French ambassador. It is not made explicit if all the
other ambassadorial seats shared the same platform but it is very likely since a few lines
later we read: ‘Item, all the stage whereupon the said seats are to be placed, to be covered
with tapestry, and all the rest of the floor in front of the seats within the choir to be
covered in like manner.” The “choir’ was to be enclosed by a ‘barrier” and there was to be
‘[a] form [bench] set on the east side of the pulpit for the lords, knights and other
strangers that shall be appointed within the barrier, accompanied with those of his
Maijesty’s Council who may not have the commodity to be placed within the “daskis”
appointed for the nobility.” Thus it seems that a platform was installed in the eastern
part of the chapel, corresponding to the sanctuary in a conventional Catholic or Anglican
church, with an area in front, enclosed by a barrier, corresponding to a choir. No mention
at all is made of the western raised platform, which was accessible from the door in the
west end-wall, facing the King’s Old Building. It has been interpreted as a royal loft for
the queen.*> However, Anna of Denmark took no part in the actual baptismal ceremony,
in accordance with normal Scottish royal practice 4
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To complete this description it is worth listing the chapel furnishings as recorded for
the baptism. The pulpit, as already reported, was placed in the middle of the screen,
separating the enclosure within which the king and ambassadors sat from the remainder
of the building. The 1719 Board of Ordnance plan (Fig. g) shows a pulpit situated on the
south wall between the first and second windows to the east of the main door, but this
pulpit was probably installed after the baptism. Some have tried to connect a surviving
wooden pulpit in the castle with the baptism, but it is rather plain for such an occasion
(although, if covered with cloth of gold, as Fowler reports, this would hardly have
mattered), but others have suggested it pre-dates the present chapel.*” Below the pulpit
was a desk, in front of which was a table for the Honours of Scotland (the crown, sword
and sceptre). The other movable furnishings referred to in the Reportarie included ‘a
royall seat of estate’ for James, flanked to left and right by chairs for the ambassadors,
some with desks in front, while, outside the partition, the lesser guests, ‘the Gentlemen
of England, Denmark, Almaine [i.e. Germany], Flanders, and Scotland’, sat on ‘ornate
fourmes’. Finally, we should mention that the walls were hung with “costly tapestries’,
as this accounts for the lack of painted decoration on the lower parts of the walls.*®

ANALYSIS OF THE CHAPEL’S ARCHITECTURE
Deborah Howard was the first to appreciate fully the Classical character of the chapel.
She pointed to the ‘almost Florentine’ appearance of the windows, having in mind early
Renaissance palaces such as the Palazzo Medici, while, for the entrance portal, she
suggested that the ultimate source may have been the ancient Roman Arch of the Sergii
at Pula in modern Croatia. This had first been published in Serlio’s Terzo libro of 1 540
(Fig. 10), and again, in a more decorated form, by Du Cerceau in 1549. Howard argued
the arch was of a type used for celebratory, triumphal or royal entrances and entries.*
She noted, for instance, that the Arsenal Gateway, built in Venice in 1460, which closely
resembles the Pula arch, was later ‘transformed into a monument to the Republic’s
triumph at Lepanto in 1571": a victory that James VI celebrated by writing an epic poem
about it. Howard also pointed out that the Pula formula was used closer to home for
Philip II's triumphal entry to Antwerp 1549, when the arch was surmounted by statues
of Philip II and Charles V carrying a huge globe. Engravings of that arch were
published in 1550.51 A third possible source suggested by Howard for the door is the
frontispiece of a book.52 Certainly, frontispieces with coupled columns are common
enough, examples including that in Andrea Palladio’s Quattro libri of 1570, but none
known to the authors is closer to the Stirling arch than the Pula and Antwerp arches. To
Howard’s potential sources can be added another, namely the arch published by
Francesco Colonna in the Hypnerotomachia Polphili in 1499, an English translation of which
was published in 1592, only two years before the building of the chapel. Up to the
entablature it follows the general type of the Pula arch, but differs above in having a
large attic over which a pediment extends the arch’s full width.5

Thus Schaw had a rich tradition to draw on for the Stirling arch, but it is clear that
Serlio’s and Du Cerceau’s illustrations of the Pula arch and De Schrijver’s of the
Antwerp arch are the closest in general form and proportions, and are so similar to each
other that it is impossible to say for certain which was the direct model for Stirling. The
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Stirling arch does, however, differ in one striking aspect: whereas the Pula arch has no
keystone and that at Antwerp has only a small scrolled bracket, the Stirling arch has a
large keystone with a rimmed edge on three sides and a cyma reversa at the top. On it
rests a rectangular panel, wider than it is high, interrupting the architrave and frieze of
the main entablature. Like the keystone, the panel has a rimmed edge, which at the top
is formed by the cyma reversa moulding of the main cornice, projecting over the panel.
Both the panel and the keystone almost certainly had framed insets, either painted,
or in the form of a thin sheet of marble or bronze, like the marble slab set within
an aedicule on Schaw’s own tomb. We will return to the significance of the keystone
later on.

Behind the purely formal resemblances of the windows and portal to classical sources,
strong symbolic resonances with Solomon’s Temple can also be clearly discerned in the
chapel, and the first we should revisit is the correspondence of their plans. The Bible
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gives two accounts of the building of the Temple of Solomon. The primary one is in the
First Book of Kings (1 Kings 6) but a summary with some variations also appears in the
Second Book of Chronicles (2 Chron. 3). Both agree that the temple proper measured 60
cubits long by 20 wide, with 1 Kings adding that it was also 30 cubits high.> In addition,
it had a porch or vestibule at the east end, which 1 Kings says was 20 cubits wide by ten
deep, although 2 Chronicles makes it 20 cubits square and 120 high.®® The normal ancient
Hebrew and Greek cubit was well known to be of six palms or twenty-four digits, while
Vitruvius tells us that a foot was four palms or sixteen digits.> Thus the most widely
disseminated Bible commentary of the later Middle Ages and Renaissance, the Postilla
super totam Bibliam of Nicholas of Lyra (c. 1270-1349), which was also the first to be
printed in 1471 and was popular with Catholics and Protestants alike, informs us that
‘the usual cubit was a foot and a half’.5’ This makes the Temple, according to the
dimensions given in 1 Kings (including in its length the ten cubits of its porch, making
it 70 cubits in total), 105 feet long by 30 wide and 45 high. In comparison, the internal
length of the Chapel Royal is 31.69 m, the width is 9.03 m, and the height to the ceiling
is about 13.55 m, which in feet (standard in the United Kingdom since 1824) equates to
103.96 X 29.63 X 44.44, a remarkably close correlation (Fig. 11). It should be pointed out
that we do not know what the exact length of the foot used for the chapel was. The foot
was not a legal measure in Scotland until after 1685, although there are examples of its
use in the sixteenth century.’®

There are two further points to be mentioned on the internal dimensions. One is that
the raised internal platform at the west end is square and therefore corresponds in
position and area with the Holy of Holies in the Temple. The second is that the depth of
the back wall of the two subterranean chambers under the east end is about 4.5 m, i.e. 10
cubits, which is the same depth as the porch of the Temple according to the 1 Kings
account. The possible significance of this will be discussed later.5

Turning to the chapel windows (Fig. 1), it has to be said that they do not accord with
those described in 1 Kings. The Latin Vulgate, which St Jerome translated directly from
the Hebrew text, describes them as fenestrae obliquae, which can be translated as ‘slanting
windows’, while the parallel passage in the Greek version of the Old Testament, the
Septuagint, can be translated as “hidden peep windows’.%" This is usually taken to mean
splayed or, as described in the Geneva Bible of 1560 and the Bishops’ Bible of 1568, the
two English translations most popular with Protestants before the King James Bible of
1611, ‘windowes brode without and narowe within’.®® However, the chapel windows
are very comparable with those in a woodcut of the Temple from a sixteenth-century
edition of the Bible incorporating Nicholas of Lyra’s Postilla.52 The rear elevation of the
Temple is shown with three windows to each of three storeys, and the windows are
biforate with roundels above and set within containing arches (Fig. 12). Mark Girouard
suggested the same source for the comparable windows at Wollaton Hall,
Nottinghamshire, built from 1580 to 1588.%% Such a derivation probably stems from a
confusion of the description of Solomon’s Temple with that of his palace. In the account
in the Septuagint (fuller than that in the Vulgate), we read that the palace had three
storeys, and ‘space on space’ three times.®* ‘Space’ is usually understood to mean
window. Exactly what ‘space on space’ means is not obvious but it appears that the
illustrator of the first illustrated printed edition of the Postilla, published in Nuremberg
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Fig. 11. Chapel Royal and Solomon’s Temple plans compared, from Goodare and Lynch (eds),
The Reign of James VI (Edinburgh, 2000)

by Anton Koberger in 1481, took it to mean “paired windows.®> Clearly, this is the source
of the form of the windows at Stirling and, one also suspects, their disposition in groups

of three.
The Temple, too, accounts for the siting of the main entrance at Stirling, which makes

no sense in traditional church planning. The Vulgate says that the ‘door for the middle
side, was on the right hand of the house’ (ostium lateris medii in parte erat domus dextrae),
but one possible interpretation is that the main door was in the middle of the Temple’s
right side. The door in question was, in fact, a minor one giving access to the middle part
of the Temple, but this is not clear from the context.® In addition, the Venerable Bede
initiated a long and rich tradition of equating this door with the pierced right side of
Christ, while Nicholas of Lyra helpfully comments that the right side would be on the
south, just as it is at Stirling.” However, Nicholas also adds a caveat that the first century
Jewish historian, Josephus, speaks of a door at the east corner.t Conflating the two
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Fig. 12. Biblia Sacra cum Glossa ordinaria et Nicolai Lyrani expositionibus (Lyons, 1545), vol. 4,
[- 2757 (Glasgow University Library, Bh6—a.6)

statements, one arrives at the south-east corner, which at Stirling is the location of the
door to the antechamber.

The triumphal arch treatment of the chapel’s main door also relates to the Temple,
albeit not to the descriptions of it in the Bible. The entrance doorway was also
reconstructed in the In Ezechielem explanationes, the great three-volume commentary on
the Temple begun by Jerénimo de Prado (1 547-95) and completed by Juan Bautista
Villalpando (1575-1608). There it is shown in the form of an arch framed by paired
Composite columns (Fig. 13), and, while its correspondence with Stirling may not be
exact in that the columns have no pedestals and the entablature does not project over
them, there is nonetheless a strong generic similarity 6 It might seem problematic that
the doorway bears no relation to the biblical accounts of the front of Solomon’s Temple,
which had the freestanding twin bronze columns of Jachin and Boaz guarding the
entrance. It might also seem problematic that the Explanationes did not even begin being
published until 1596, which was two years after the building of the chapel. Yet a
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possible answer to both these puzzles lies in Prado and Villalpando’s sources for the
doorway, which are Roman coins overstruck during the Second Jewish Revolt led by
Bar Kochba against the Romans (AD 132-36), as these represent the Temple as a fagade
with a round arch flanked by two pairs of columns supporting an entablature (Fig. 14).7°
These coins were not published in the many sixteenth-century books on ancient
numismatics, although a forgery purporting to show the Temple of Solomon was.”!
However, Prado and Villalpando state that there were two examples in Venice, a silver
one in the collection of Federico Contarini and a bronze one in the collection of the
‘Patriarch of Aquileia’.”? This latter was either Giovanni Grimani, who was patriarch
from 1585 until 1593 and whose collections were renowned, or just possibly his
successor Francesco Barbaro, patriarch from 1593 until 1616.73 Since it was common
practice for scholars or travellers of sufficient social standing to be shown aristocratic
collections, it is very possible that knowledge of the Bar Kochba coins in Venice, or of
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Fig. 14. Silver quarter shekel, minted
in Judea, AD 13335 (British Museun,
London, Department of Coins and
Medals, inv. 1888 0512.36)

some other collection, could have been available to an educated Scot, who then
conveyed it to William Schaw. The most obvious candidate to have seen the Venetian
coins is William Fowler, who is not only recorded at the nearby University of Padua in
1592, as was mentioned above, but also appears to have been buying books in Venice
in 1593.74

There is no contradiction in regarding the portal is being based both on the Arch at
Pula and on the Temple facade, especially since the former was itself sometimes
connected with Jerusalem. Jacopo Bellini had used the type to frame his drawing of Christ
before Pilate in his Louvre Album, begun about 1430.75 Something similar, which may
also betray knowledge of the coin obverse, is used for the gate of Jerusalem, in a painting
by Andrea Micheli (Il Vicentino) of the capture of the city by Vespasian and Titus,
executed between 1580 and 1583 in Palladio’s Palazzo Barbarano in Vicenza.”s

WHY THE CHAPEL’S RESEMBLANCE TO SOLOMON’S TEMPLE WAS IMPORTANT

It was not unusual for a church to be modelled on Solomon’s Temple. The proportions
of Old St Peter’s (begun c. 333), the archetypal church for western Europe, were taken
from the Temple.” It was an especially common model for royal and palace chapels,
such as the Sistine Chapel in Rome, begun 1475, and the chapel of King’s College in
Aberdeen, founded in 1500. In the latter case, a particular interest in the Temple is
demonstrated by the inscription informing us that the foundation stone was laid on 2
April, the date believed to correspond with that on which Solomon’s Temple was
founded.”® It has also been pointed out that the ancillary building abutting the chapel’s
south wall resembled the timber structure around the Temple as depicted in one of the
Koberger woodcuts.” For James IV (r. 1488-1 513) to imitate Solomon, the archetypal
wise and peaceable monarch, was commonplace for Christian (and indeed Islamic)
rulers. But for his great grandson, James VI, the identification seems to have been made
particularly forcibly. Best known is the sermon preached at his funeral in 1625 by the
Bishop of Lincoln, Great Britains Salomon;® but the theme was already well established
soon after the start of his English reign, as is clear from a 1604 sermon of John Gordon,
a Scot who James had made Dean of Salisbury. Gordon’s sermon, Enotikon, compares
the component kingdoms of the British Isles to the kingdoms united by David and
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Solomon and adduces a Hebrew etymology for Britannia.$! Such thinking had
architectural consequences, as Vaughan Hart has made clear, with London being seen
as the New Jerusalem and St Paul’s Cathedral as the Temple. 5

However, the Solomonic theme was already strong in the Scottish court even before
1603. At the ceremonial entry into Edinburgh in October 1579, marking the beginning
of James's reign at the age of fourteen, there was a tableau depicting the Judgement of
Solomon.* In 1580, the poet Alexander Montgomerie described James, in his
‘Navigation” forming the introduction to a masque, as ‘So sapient and ying [young] a
king, A Salomon for richt and judgment’.$* And at the entry of Anna of Denmark to
Edinburgh, after her coronation at Holyrood in May 1590, there was a tableau equating
Anna with the Queen of Sheba and James as her Solomon.$5 For our purposes, however,
a clinching piece of evidence is a letter dated 17 July 1594, in which it is reported that
‘the Chancellor and rest of the council at Edinburgh have sent to solicit his Majesty that
the baptism may be at Edinburgh as the ambassadors cannot be furnished at Stirling
and the great Temple of Solomon which is a building cannot be completed before the
day “prefixtt.”’8 The writer of the letter, the Scottish courtier John Colville (?1542-1605),
was ‘one of the most consistent suppliers of information to Queen Elizabeth’s
government concerning the political affairs of Scotland during the last quarter of the
sixteenth century’.” Yet, while it is gratifying to have documentary proof that the
Chapel Royal was explicitly modelled on the Temple, this raises the question why
nothing was made publicly of the fact either at the baptismal celebrations or
subsequently.

The answer may well lie in William’s Schaw’s main claim to fame as the inventor of
modern freemasonry, with the issuing of the First Statutes on 28 December 1598 and the
Second Statutes at Holyroodhouse on the same date in 1599.88 The Second Statutes
include a stipulation that every initiate should be tested in ‘the art of memorie and
science thairof.¥ This refers to the ancient skill of memorizing large quantities of
information by use of the mnemonic technique of imagining a building, and disposing
the information to be memorized, in the different components of the buildings, such as
rooms, or the bays in a colonnade, or the aedicules in an elevation. As Frances Yates
established, the art of memory was developed in Antiquity, originally for practical
purposes, such as learning speeches, but during the Middle Ages and Renaissance
became linked with hermetic philosophies and acquired mystical significance. Giordano
Bruno was perhaps its most famous exponent, but one of his principal disciples was
Alexander Dicsone (1558-1603/4).° Dicsone moved in court circles both in England and
Scotland, and is likely to have known both Schaw (a fellow Catholic) and William Fowler,
author of the Reportarie, who graduated from St Leonard’s College, St Andrews, a year
after Dicsone in 1578.°! Fowler refers in a list of ‘My Works’ to a treatise on ‘art of
memorie’, and, in a note, to teaching James VI the art of memory.2 Thus, the designer of
the Chapel Royal, the principal organizer of the baptismal ceremonies, and the king
himself, were all at the very least interested in the art of memory, if not trained
practitioners.”

David Stevenson argues that the art of memory was necessary for freemasons because
much of their lore was transmitted orally, being regarded as ‘too secret to be committed
to writing”.** Inevitably, however, some Masonic catechisms were eventually written
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down, the earliest extant dating from 1696. One section deals with the lodge of the man
being questioned and includes the following:

Q. How stands your lodge? A. East and west as the Temple of Jerusalem.
Q. Where was the first lodge? A. In the porch of Solomon’s Temple.

The dialogue goes on to discuss the location of various other features within the lodge.%
It is clear that the lodge being described is not a real but a symbolic building, and
Stevenson concludes that Solomon’s Temple is the basis of the masonic imaginary temple
of memory.” In the light of such evidence, it is hard not to see the building of the Chapel
Royal, for the construction of which Schaw had assembled masons and wrights from
across Scotland, as the prime catalyst which led to his creation of modern freemasonry
four years later. Stirling is named in Schaw’s 1599 Second Statutes as one of the three
premier lodges of Scotland, and in 1627-28 its members included masons who worked
on royal works at Dumbarton, Edinburgh and Stirling castles and Linlithgow Palace.”
A decade later, in 1637, Sir Anthony Alexander, royal Master of Works and General
Warden of all the masons of Scotland, held a court (a general meeting ostensibly to deal
with the regulation of operative masonry) at Stirling. He died within the year and was
succeeded as Master of Works and warden by his brother, Henry, subsequently third
Earl of Stirling, who called another court in 1638.%3 Apart from one minor record of 1642,
nothing more is heard of the lodge of Stirling until 1708. Its site is not known but there
must be a strong suspicion that it met in the Chapel Royal. Thus, the lack of public
reference to the Stirling Chapel being a copy of Solomon’s Temple could be explained
by its significance within freemasonry.

The masonic connection, moreover, helps us interpret one aspect of the baptismal
ceremony and two of the physical features of the chapel. For example, the seating of
James in the north-east corner of the chapel makes sense when one learns that the
initiation of candidates into freemasonry takes place in the north-east corners of lodges.
The candidate becomes ‘a perfect and upright man and Mason, the representative of a
spiritual Corner-stone, on which he is to erect his future moral and Masonic edifice’.®®
The foundation stones of masonic lodges are always laid in the north-east corner, a
tradition which may be borrowed from earlier Christian practice, since Christ is
identified, in Psalm 118, with the stone which is first rejected by builders but later chosen
as the chief cornerstone.!™ The significance of the north-east corner, according to masons,
is that the north is associated with darkness and the profane world, while the east is
associated with order and light.!”! It will have been noted that the north wall of the
Chapel Royal contains no windows, while the east wall has the largest.

The cornerstone is also often equated with the keystone in Masonic tradition.
Although there is no warrant in canonical scripture for linking keystone and
cornerstone, in the pseudepigraphical (i.e. falsely attributed) Testament of Solomon (third
century AD), the stone rejected by the builders in Psalm 118 becomes the stone chosen
by Solomon to complete the Temple at its apex. This tradition found its way into the
late medieval Speculum humanae salvationis, a very popular illustrated typological poem
on the Bible, which was a sourcebook for artists in different media, including
stonemasons.!”? Freemasons also believe that the keystone of the arch of Solomon’s
Temple was inscribed with ‘ten letters in precious stone work’.19 Such a tradition
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Fig. 15. Chapel Royal, detail of
| the keystone over the principal

entrance (© Historic Scotland,

2008)

would, therefore, account for the prominent keystone, with its missing panel, over the
chapel’s main entrance (Fig. 15).

Lastly, the reference in the early masonic catechisms to the first lodge having been in
the porch of Solomon’s Temple may explain the cellars under the east end of the chapel,
which, as we have observed, occupy the same area. Their subterranean location may be
an attempt to keep the lodge secret but may also refer to the grave of Hiram, the Master
of Works at Solomon’s Temple, who, according to Masonic legend, was murdered by
three apprentices. One eighteenth-century version of the catechism says that Hiram was
buried in the Temple ‘under the west window looking to the east’.!® This would not fit
the location of the cellars well, but other sources are vaguer as to where the body was
buried within the Temple.!®® Given that the Chapel Royal appears to have housed the
prototypical lodge one cannot necessarily expect every feature of it to accord with later
masonic tradition.

From what has now been said, it can be concluded that the Chapel Royal was a
building of outstanding significance, its dimensions and ornaments having both a
classical and biblical provenance. It has been demonstrated, in particular, that the chapel
was intended to be a copy of Solomon’s Temple, as part of James VI’s sustained attempts
to emulate the archetypal wise monarch. It has also been argued that the fact that its
significance has not been hitherto recognized is not so much an accident of history, as
more a deliberate attempt to keep it secret, because of the chapel’s pivotal role in the
foundation of modern freemasonry.
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